
MEETING AGENDA 
MOUNTAIN BROOK CITY COUNCIL 

 
CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBER (ROOM A108) 

56 CHURCH STREET, MOUNTAIN BROOK, AL 35213 
 

AUGUST 26, 2019, 7:00 P.M. 
___________ 

 
1. Approval of the minutes of the August 12, 2019, regular meeting of the City Council. 

 
2. Consideration:  Resolution reappointing Katie Wohlwend to the Villages Design Review 

Committee to service without compensation through August 23, 2022 (re:  Resolution No. 2019-
106). 
 

3. Consideration:  Recommend to the ABC Board the issuance of a 020 – Restaurant Retail Liquor 
license to Bobby Carl's Table, 2031 Cahaba Rd. Suite A, Mountain Brook, AL 35223. 
 

4. Consideration:  Resolution declaring certain property surplus and authorizing its sale at public 
Internet auction. 
 

5. Consideration:  Resolution awarding the bid for the purchase of a storage building for use by the 
Police Department at the target range. 
 

6. Consideration:  Resolution authorizing the execution of an agreement between the City and 
Kadco, LLC with respect to public improvements to be constructed along Poe Drive. 
 

7. Consideration:  Resolution authorizing the display of a plant stand in the right-of-way by Leaf ‘n 
Petal. 
 

8. Consideration:  Resolution authorizing the establishment of a checking account for the 10 cent 
state gasoline taxes. 
 

9. Consideration:  Resolution approving the tentative fiscal year 2020 street resurfacing list. 
 

10. Public hearing:  Consideration of an ordinance rezoning property along Fairhaven Drive (re:  
Overton Village Townhomes). 
 

11. Consideration:  Consideration of an ordinance amending the Lane Parke Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) master development plan with respect to drive-throughs. 

 
12. Announcement:  The next regular meeting of the City Council will be September 9, 2019, at 7:00 

p.m. in the Council Chamber of City Hall located at 56 Church Street, Mountain Brook, AL 
35213. 
 

13. Announcement:  The City Council shall conduct an open work session concerning the proposed 
budget for the year ending September 30, 2020, on August 29, 2019, starting at 8:00 a.m. in the 
Room A106 of City Hall located at 56 Church Street, Mountain Brook, AL 35213. 

 
14. Comments from residents. 

 
15. Adjourn. 



Minute Book 90 

MOUNTAIN BROOK CITY COUNCIL 
PRE-MEETING DISCUSSION 

AUGUST 12,2019 

The City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama met in public session in the Pre-council 
Room (A106) of City Hall at 6:00 p.m. on the 12th day of August, 2019. The Council President called the 
meeting to order and the roll was called with the following results: 

Present: 

Absent: 

Virginia C. Smith, Council President 
William S. Pritchard III, Council President Pro Tempore 
Lloyd C. Shelton 
Stewart Welch 111, Mayor 

Philip E. Black 
Alice B. Womack 

Also present were City Attorney Whit Colvin, City Manager Sam Gaston and City Clerk Steven 
Boone. 

AGENDA 

1. Proposed bridge projects for Old Brook Trail and Canterbury Road-Blair Perry with Gresham 
Smith (the public involvement meeting is scheduled for August 15" from 5-7pm), Appendix 1 

The design work is 60% con~plete 
The engineer is striving to request bids in July 2020 
The Caldwell Mill Road bridge inay he bid later this year. Construction inay take 6-months 
or less. 
Canterbury Road can be pushed back to fall in order to schedule construction (mostly under 
the bridge) during the summer to minimize traffic issues 

2. Set date for public involvement meeting on Caldwell Mill Road bridge replacement project- 
Blair Perry with Gresham Smith. This public involvement meeting can be set for mid to late 
September 2019. The Council requested a formal presentation followed by an opportunity for the 
public to offer questions. The date and time will he determined soon. 

3. Atnend Council's policies on board appointments-Virginia Smith (Resolution No. 2019-1 11 was 
added to the formal meeting agenda) 

4. Proposed ordinance prohibiting employee parking on certain streets in Mountain Brook V i l l a g e  
Chief Cook and Sam Gaston, Appendix 2. (The Chamber Director plans to obtain feedback - - 
from the Mountain Brook Village merchants. This matter will be brought back for formal 
consideration at a later date.) 

5. Review of the other matters to be considered at the formal (7 p.m.) meeting 

EXECUTIVE SESSION AND ADJOURNMENT 

There being no ftuther matters for discussion, Council President Pro Tempore Pritchard made a 
motion that the City Council convene in executive session to discuss a matter involving good name and 



916 Minute Book 90 

character. The City Attorney verbally certified that the subject matter of the executive session is permissible 
under the Open Meetings Act. The motion was seconded by Council President Smith. There being no further 
discussion, the vote was called with the following results: 

Ayes: Virginia C. Smith, Council President 
William S. Pritchard 111, Council President Pro Tempore 
Lloyd C. Shelton 

Nays: None 

Council President Smith thereupon declared that said motion carried by a vote of 3-0. She then 
announced that the City Council shall reconvene upon conclusion of the executive session at approximately 7 
p.m. in Room A108. The pre-meeting was then adjourned at approximately 6:20 p.m. 

4. CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, certify the above is a true and 
correct synopsis of the discussion from the work session of the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, 
Alabama held at City Hall, Pre-Council Room (A106) on August 12,201 9, and that the meeting was duly 
called and held in all respects in accordance with the laws of the State of Alabama and bylaws of the City and 
that no formal action or votes were conducted at said work session. 

City Clerk 
Approved by City Council August 26,201 9 

August 12,2019 



Minute Book 90 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR OF THE 
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK 

AUGUST 12,2019 

The City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama met in public session in the City Hall 
Council Chamber at approximately 7:00 p.m. on the 12th day of August, 201 9. The Council President called 
the meeting to order and the roll was called with the following results: 

Present: Virginia C. Smith, Council President 
William S. Pritchard 111, ~ounc'il President Pro Tempore 
Lloyd C. Shelton 
Stewart Welch 111, Mayor 

Absent: Philip E. Black 
Alice B. Womack 

Also present were City Attorney Whit Colvin, City Manager Sam Gaston and City Clerk Steven 
Boone. 

The Council President stated that a quorum was present and that the meeting was open for the 
transaction of business 

1. RECOGNITION OF GUESTS 

Council President Smith recognized three Boy Scouts from Troop 53 in attendance for their 
Communications merit badge. 

2. CONSENT AGENDA 

Council President Smith announced that the following matters will be considered at one time on the 
consent agenda provided no one in attendance objects: 

Approval of the minutes of the July 22,201 9, regular meeting of the City Council 

2019-105 Expression of gratitude to Jamie Gregory for his service on the Exhibit 1 
Planning Commission 

2019-106 Appoint Katie Wohlwend to the Villages Design Review Exhibit 2, 
Committee to service without compensation through August 23, Appendix 1 
201 9 (filling the unexpired term of Sally Legg) 

2019-107 Appoint Ashley Spotswood to the Villages Design Review Exhibit 3, 
Committee to serve without compensation through August 12, Appendix 2 
2022 

2019-108 Appoint poll workers for the September 24,2019, special Exhibit 4 
election 

2019-109 Authorize the proposed Cove Drive traffic island improvements Exhibit 5, 
and City's expenditure for same Appendix 3 

2019-110 Ratify the execution of a contractor agreement between the City Exhibit 6, 
and Reno Plumbing & Sewer Services, Inc., with respect to the Appendix 4 
installation of new water service at the Crestline Elementary 
School field 

J:Winutes & Agendas\Council\2019\20 I908 I2 Minutesdoc August 12,2019 



Minute Book 90 

2019-111 Amend the "Significant Accounting and Management Policies" Exhibit 7 
of the City Council with respect to its Board Appointment 
policies 

Thereupon, the foregoing minutes and resolutions were introduced by Council member Shelton and a 
motion for their immediate adoption made by Council President Pro Tempore Pritchard. The minutes and 
resolutions were then considered by the City Council. Council President Pro Tempore Pritchard seconded the 
motion to adopt the foregoing minutes and resolutions. Then, upon the question being put and the roll called, 
the vote was recorded as follows: 

Ayes: Virginia C. Smith, Council President 
William S. Pritchard 111, Council President Pro Tempore 
Lloyd C. Shelton 

Nays: None 

Council President Smith thereupon declared that said minutes and resolutions (Nos. 20 1 9- 105 through 
2019-1 1 1) are adopted by a vote of 3-0 and as evidence thereof she signed the same. 

3. CONSIDERATION OF AN ORDINANCE (NO. 2051) PERMITTING AND REGULATING 
THE SALE OF [OFF-PREMISES] ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES BY APPROPRIATELY 
LICENSES BUSINESSES ON SUNDAY STARTING AT 10 A.M. IN THE CITY (EXHIBIT 8, 
APPENDIX 5) 

Council President Smith introduced the ordinance in writing. It was then moved by Council President 
Pro Tempore Pritchard that all rules and regulations which, unless suspended, would prevent the immediate 
consideration and adoption of said ordinance be suspended and that unanimous consent to the immediate 
consideration of said ordinance be given and that the reading of the ordinance at length be waived. The motion 
was seconded by Council member Shelton and was unanimously carried, as follows: 

Ayes: Virginia C. Smith 
William S. ("Billy") Pritchard I11 
Lloyd C. Shelton 

Nays: None 

Council President Smith declared the motion carried by a vote of 3 - 4 .  

AAer said ordinance had been considered in h l l  by the Council President Pro Tempore Pritchard then 
moved for the adoption of said ordinance. The motion was seconded by Council member Shelton. Thereupon, 
Council President Pro Tempore Pritchard called for vote with the following results: 

Ayes: Virginia C. Smith 
William S. ("Billy") Pritchard I11 
Lloyd C. Shelton 

Nays: None 

Council President Smith declared that the ordinance (No. 205 1) is hereby adopted by a vote of 3-0 
and, as evidence thereof, she signed the same. 

4. PUBLIC HEARING: CONSIDERATION AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE LANE 
PARKE PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) MASTER DEVELOPMENT PLAN WITH 
RESPECT TO DRIVETHROUGHS (EXHIBIT 9, APPENDICES 6 AND 7) 

Council President Smith introduced the ordinance in writing and announced that the City Council does 
not intend to vote on the proposal at tonight's meeting. She then invited opening comments fiom the 
developers' representatives. 

J:\Minutes & Agendas\Council\20 19\20 1908 12 Minutes.doc August 12,2019 



Minute Book 90 923 

Me1 McElroy of 1901 6th Avenue North, Suite 2400, representing the applicant: 
Developer requests amendments to the PUD that includes: 1) ability to add two additional drive- 
throughs in the "Regions" block and another in the "Treadwell's" block, 2) relocation of an 
approved drive-through to an alternate location within the same block, 3) a change to the access 
plan to accommodate the requested drive throughs and 4) an additional approval that requires a 
traffic study to be presented to the City Council for future drive-throughs 
Drive-throughs are only permissible for banks, pharmacies, dry cleaners, coffee shop and certain 
[fast casual] restaurants 
The developer has determined that prospective tenants are demanding a drive through 
Tonight, the request is only for a coffee shop with a drive-through in the middle of the b'Regions" 
block 

Virginia Smith: 
Understood the approved PUD included three drive-throughs. Mr. McElroy pointed out two areas of 

the master plan where there is a conflict. In one area, the PUD mentions three drive-throughs and in another 
only two. His interpretation is that the PUD includes two drive-throughs. 

Richard Caudle, PE with Skipper Consulting, traffic engineer for the applicant (Appendix 6): 
Skipper was engaged to perform a queue study for the proposed coffee shop with drive-through 
The drive-through entrance is on Jemison Lane and terminates onto Rele Street 
Only one existing queue study could be found but was not be used as it did not include minute-to- 
minute datdstatistics needed to estimate the queue time frames 
Accordingly, Skipper selected two Star Bucks for study-one on U.S. Highway in Trussville and 
another on Montclair Road 
The studies were done on May 16 and 17 (Trussville) and May 20 (Montclair Road) 
Based on these studies, Skipper estimates that the proposed coffee shop will have vehicles that 
exceed the 9-vehicle drive-through capacity for a total 6 minutes during the morning peak hours 
(6:45a.m.-8:40a.m.) 
o The excess is projected to be one vehicle for 3-minutes which will block the pedestrian 

crosswalk along Jemison Lane 
o The excess is projected to be two vehicles for 1-minute which will block one lane of traffic on 

Jemison Lane 
o The excess is projected to be three to four vehicles for 2-minutes which will block both lanes 

on Jemison Lane 
o It is projected that there will be an excess of one vehicle for 3-minutes during the evening 

peak period (again, blocking only the pedestrian crosswalk) 
The ramifications of the blocked lane are 3-minutes in the late morning time (after school drop-off 
and outside the normal work commute) 
In response to a question by President Smith regarding the prohibition of left turn into the drive- 
through during the peak periods, Mr. Caudle questioned the enforceability of such an ordinance 

Victor Hanson 111 of 2328 Chester Road, 35223: 
Confirmed that this vote, whenever it takes place, will have no mention to the fast casual issue 
The area has suffered mightily since this development was approved (referring to the loss of 
longstanding businesses) 
Questioned the need for another coffee shop in this area 
The drive-through coffee shop experience is significantly different than what exists currently at 
the Star Buck's 
If approved, views this change will increase traffic in the area and change the nature of the 
existing Star Buck's 
This proposal is a high-volume drive-through 
Questioned whether people that live outside of Mountain Brook Village truly understand the 
impact and implications of this change and the lost businesses over the past few years 
Urged the Council to deny the requested changes to the PUD 

August 12,20 1 9 



Minute Book 90 

Patrick Darby 3 1 15 Overhill Road, 35223: 
Views that there is no stated methodology for this queuing study 
Views the study as unsound and unreliable and should not be used for this decision 
Questions the statistical significance of the limited study periods and locations selected for study 
Even with the flaws, the study indicates there will be disruptions to traffic flow 
In his opinion, the study does not explain the magnitude of the traffic impact 
The timing of the excess queuing does not make sense being after the morning school drop-off 
and normal work commute 
Believes, the traffic delays and jams should be the Council's starting point for this evaluation 

Pamela Baugh of 2605 Canterbury Road, 35223: 
Retired 6th grade science teacher 
The study periods are too short and therefore not representative 
The periods and times are not representative 
The study does not take into account the impact of delivery trucks in the area 
The area in question is not currently pedestrian fXendly and believes this proposal will only 
exacerbate the problem 

Simeon Johnson of 9 Woodhill Road, 3521 3: 
Requested the landscape plan be displayed (Appendix 7) 
Pointed out the various green areas that will be removed to accommodate the requested drive- 
through 
Estimates there will be 10-15 trees removed 
Wants it noted for the record that the developer's representative interprets the PUD to only 
include two drive-throughs 

Warren Rhett of 25 17 Canterbury Road, 35223: 
Did not realize the development might include any drive-throughs 
Thinks that all drive-throughs in the PUD should be re-evaluated 
The illustrations do not currently include any depictions of where the drive-throughs were 
contemplated to which President Smith responded that changes to the PUD were contemplated 
from the beginning and the drive-throughs where not illustrated because tenants were not known 
nor where they would ultimately be placed 
Feels fbrther traffic study is warranted for such a decision 

Dona Musgrave of 2620 Carriage Place, 35223: 
Drive-throughs encourage people not to get out of their cars 
Feels these businesses will cannibalize other businesses in the area 
Drive-throughs will impede traffic flow and pedestrian activity 
Too many restaurants have already been lost in the new development 
Urged council to wake-up as we do not need to replicate Trussville or Montclair Road in 
Mountain Brook Village 

Patrick Adams of 3429 Brookwood Road, 35223: 
Has there been a follow-up traffic study to evaluate the merits of the pre-construction study? 
Such a study might give an indication as to the validity of the current queuing study 

Richard Caudle: 
The only reasons to recommission a traffic study include: 1) significant change in square footage, 
2) significant change in access, andlor 3) significant change in land uses 
None of these conditions exist so another traffic study is not warranted 
The effect of a delay is difficult to express because the road network has not been completed 

John Somerville of 3028 Overhill Road, 35223: 
Because the project has not been defined, how can the Council approve this request? 
Does not understand what a fast casual dining is 

August 12,2019 



Minute Book 90 925 

The request includes additional drive-through which he believes is tantamount approval of future 
applications regardless of conditions or traffic studies may be required for such future applications 
If we do not know the tenants or what green areas may be lost or altered, why not wait until we do 
know 

Elizabeth Outland of 2901 Southwood Road, 35223: 
Noise associated with the proposed drive-throughs has not been addressed or considered 

Norman Pless of 1 Clubview Drive: 
Questioned how many parking spaces may be lost [Ms. Hazen, there is currently a surplus of 
seven parking spaces and it is contemplated that 4-5 spaces may be lost if the plan is approved.] 
Can the Council require the developer to replace any lost green space? 

Glenn Murdock of 2906 Canterbury Road, 35223: 
Apologized for unintentionally disrupting the meeting earlier 
Does not understand why Mr. Hanson cannot ask for a show of hands to voice their support for 
various opinions 
If the additional drive-throughs are approved, agrees with Mr. Somewille, that future applications 
and drive-throughs are facilitated once the applicant satisfies the Council's expressed criteria 
This proposal takes a key tenant out of Mountain Brook Village and relocate it to the new 
development 
From the beginning, many believed this development represented a lose-lose proposition. Pre- 
development, we had just what we needed. If Lane Parke was to be successful, a lot of inflow of 
traffic (not what the community wanted) would be required and the development would have to 
be destination shopping location. If the development proved not to generate the [unwanted] 
traffic, then it would become a blight on the community. 
Urged the Council to stick with the approved plan 

[Mr. Hanson's request for a show of hands was denied by President Smith .] 

Brooks Sanders of 2637 Heathermoor Road, 35223: 
The traffic study did not address traffic exiting the drive-through and whether back-up would 
occur along Rele Street 

Richard Caudle: 
Cahaba Road will be widened facilitating traffic flow such that no congestion is contemplated 
along Rele Street as a result of the drive-through 

Faye Clark or 2915 Canterbury Road, 35223: 
We have not green space and areas where trucks can turn around 
The village needs increased pedestrian traffic 
The area needs a post office, a pharmacy, a variety store, etc. 

Council President Pro Tempore Pritchard stated and asked Mr. McElroy to c o n f m  that one of the 
primary motivations of this [drive-throughlrequest is that pharmacies today require a drive-through in order to 
relocated to a new area, 

Elisabeth Lyman of 4 16 Meadowbrook Lane, 352 13: 
Mr. Pritchard's assertion that for a pharmacy to be successful in 2019 it must have a drive-through 
Instead, for a pharmacy to be successful in 2019, it is all about customer service and relationships 
Believes that if a tenants request is approved, the next tenant will similarly seek additional 
concessions 

There being no fbrther questions or comments, Council President Pro Tempore Pritchard moved that 
the public hearing be continued. The motion to continue was seconded by Council President Smith. 
Thereupon, Council President Smith called for vote with the following results: 

J:\Minutes & Agendas\Council\20 19\201908 12 Minutes.doc August 12,2019 



926 Minute Book 90 

Ayes: Virginia C. Smith 
William S. ("Billy") Pritchard I11 
Lloyd C. Shelton 

Nays: None 

Council President Smith declared that the motion carried by a vote of 3-0. 

5. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The next regular meeting of the City Council will be August 26,2019, at 7:00 p.m. in the Council 
Chamber of City Hall located at 56 Church Street, Mountain Brook, AL 35213. 

The City Council shall conduct an open work session concerning the proposed budget for the year 
ending September 30,2020, on August 29,2019, starting at 8:00 a.m. in the Room A106 of City Hall located 
at 56 Church Street, Mountain Brook, AL 352 13 

6. ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, Council President Smith adjourned 
the meeting at approximately 8:40 p.m. 

7. CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, certify the above is a true and 
correct transcript of the regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama held at 
City Hall, Council Chamber (Room A1 08) on August 12,201 9, and that the meeting was duly called and held 
in all respects in accordance with the laws of the State of Alabama and bylaws of the City and that a quorum 
was present. 

City Clerk 
Approved by City Council August 26,20 19 

EXHIBIT 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2019-105 

WHEREAS, Jamie Gregory has served with distinction on the Mountain Brook Planning 
Commission fiom March 9,201 5, through June 24,20 19, having served as Secretary beginning in 2017; and 

WHEREAS, Jamie Gregory brought invaluable insight to decisions regarding all of Mountain Brook 
and its various villages, giving thoughthl deliberation of all issues, with steadfast dedication to his 
community, and being instrumental in establishing a legacy of sound city planning for years to come; and 

WHEREAS, While Jamie Gregory always approached each case with an open mind, he also 
possessed the fortitude to make tough recommendations, when necessary, to protect the community and to 
advance sound planning principles; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the residents of Mountain Brook to express their gratitude to Jamie 
Gregory for his unselfish service and tireless efforts while serving on the Planning Commission. 

August 12,2019 



RESOLUTION NO. 2019-112 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, that Katie 
Wohlwend is hereby reappointed to the Village Design Review Committee, to serve without compensation, 
through August 23,2022 (re: Resolution No. 20 19-1 09 adopted August 12,20 1 9). 

ADOPTED: This 26th day of August, 20 19. 

Council President 

APPROVED: This 26th day of August, 20 19. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby certify the above to 
be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook at its 
meeting held on August 26,2019, as same appears in the minutes of record of said meeting. 

City Clerk 

Katie Wohlwend VDR Appointment 



$ K W  DESIGN 

Katie Wohlwend 

CONTACT 

E D U C A T I O N  
Semford Unfversity 

B.S., Graphic Deslgn 

WORK E X P E R I E N C E  

KMf Design (winter 2014 - presenv 
Owner & Designer 
Specializrng m btartdiny sysleil~s actrl cusioar yrapttic design services 
Clients inlcude MilssaCnuSelts lnslitrrle of Tec~molagy. Frius* Gcrurrnet Popsicles. 
Rabins & Morton, US Assure. Hare Wynn Newell & Newton. 
Ronald McDonalU House of JackSOnviIfe. Gfeater Nevr Orleans Foundatton 

IT Rockstars (foll 2011 - wlnter 2014) 
Load Graphic Designer 
Prinl srtcl web design, responsibilities included. 

Comp!ete crcetive cl~teclron kom logo and blancling sysrants lo user 
expelience dt?Stgn including ctII bveb creative for client projects 
Clients included Exptess Oil Cttange. Books.kMiDion, bon Tribe F~lnoss 
F~~miliorizsd with and prepared files for devebpment w~lhirr .NET plattorrn 

Penoreme Publlc Relations (summer 20t0 - foll 201Q 
Creatlve Otrector 
?I 1111 erld web design. res~onsibtlillcs induded: 

Braflded media cotlilleral for nolk. Inc.. calrslsting) of media kit and nticroslle Ues~gtr 
M&to rltateriels lor pub1lcty traded, ~0 l l d -~~ ld t3  collipany GO Copper 
Soley rospunstble for all ~nternt blnrrclit~g efforts ~ncltrding website and Clierlt crealive needs 

The Besinger Dedon Group (spring 2009 - sp&g 2010) 
Graphic Oasigner 
Print an l  web aeslgrl, ~Qsprrns~blr. for projects distributed nationvrloe. 

0 Clients ~ncluded Ce~llltx Phalmacouticals. Royal Cup Collee ana Vatntonl Novnnark 
Developed advanced Photobhop techniques and skills 

The Samford CrImsan (fall 2008 - spring 2010) 
Art Director 
Ir~togritphics and advcrtisiny dasign. paye layout 

T E C H N I C A L  S K I L L S  

Strong working koowied~e n Imth Milcirnosn and PC plalfor tm. 

Adobe Phoiositop. InDesign. Ii111s~raiot. Dteamvreover. Flasn. Acrobal. Bridge. 
Firecrrotks: Microsott Powerpotnr and Word. 

KnowIedgaUle and capable ol HTML. CSS, sad Wotdpless. 



RESOLUTION NO. 2019-113 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, that 
the City Council hereby recommends to the State of Alabama, Alcoholic Beverage Control Board, 
the issuance of a 020 - Restaurant Retail Liquor license to Bobby Carl's, LLC (trade name: 
Bobby Carl's Table), 203 1 Cahaba Road, Suite A, Mountain Brook, AL 35223. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Clerk is hereby instructed to forward a 
copy of this resolution to the State of Alabama, Alcoholic Beverage Control Board. 

ADOPTED: This 26th day of August, 2019. 

Council President 

APPROVED: This 26th day of August, 201 9. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby 
certify the above to be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council of the 
City of Mountain Brook at its special meeting held on August 26,2019, as same appears in the 
minutes of record of said meeting. 

City Clerk 

Bobby Carl's Table ABC License 



STATE OF ALABAMA ' ALCOHOUC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD 1 

.ALCOHOL LlCEWSE AWUCAW . 
Confirmation Number: 201 9081 5091 820102 

Type License: 020 - RESTAURANT RETAIL LIQUOR 

Type License: 

State: $XKI.W County: $soo.w 

State: County: 

Trade Name: BOBBY CARLS TABLE Filing Fee: $50.00 

Applicant: BOBBY CARLS LLC Transfer Fee: 

Location Address: 2031 CAHABA RD; SUITE A MOUNTAIN BROOK, AL 35223 

Mailing Address: 2031 CAHABA RD; SUITE A MOUNTAIN BROOK, AL 35223 

County: JEFFERSON Tobacco sales: NO Tobacco Vending Machines: 

Type Ownership: LLC 

Book, Page, or Document info: 20190506000161080 

Date Incorporated: 05/06/2019 State incorporated. AL County Incorporated: SHELBY 
Date of Authority: 05/06/2019 Alabama State Sales Tax ID: R010342656 

Federal Tax ID: 84-1 790230 

ROBERT CARL MCLE 
000040207961 - NC BIRMINGHAM, AL VINCENT. AL 35178 

Name: Title: Date and Place of Birth: Residence Address: 

Has applicant complied with financial responsibility ABC RR 20-X-5.147 YES 
Does ABC have any actions pending against the current licensee? NO 
Has anyone, including manager or applicant, had a FederaVState permit or license suspended or revoked? NO 
Has a liquor, wine, malt or brewed license for these premises ever been denied, suspended, or revoked? NO 
Are the applicant(s) named above, the only person@), in any manner interested in the business sought to be 
licensed? YES 
Are any ofthe applicants, whether individual, member of a partnership or association, or officers and 
directors of a corporation itself, in any manner monetarily interested, either directly or indirectly, in the 
profits of any other class of business regulated under authority of this act? NO 
Does applicant own or control, directly or indirectly, hold lien against any real or personal property which is 
rented, leased or used in the conduct of business by the holder of any vinous, malt or brewed beverage, or 
distilled liquors permit or license issued under authority of this act? NO 
Is applicant receiving, either directly or indirectly, any loan, credit, money, or the equivalent thereof fiom or 
through a subsidiary or a5liate or other licensee, or from any fm, association or corporation operating 
under or regulated by the authority of this act? NO 

TIMOTHY WAYNE LOWE 
5848024 - AL 

Contact Person: CHRISTIE LOWE 
Business Phone: 205-901-541 1 
Fax: 

PREVIOUS LICENSE INFORMATION: 
Trade Name: 
Applicant: 

MEMBER 

Home Phone: 205-901 -541 1 
Cell Phone: 205-901 -541 1 
E-mail: CHRISTIE@BOBBYCARLSTABLE.COM 

Previous License Number(s) 
License 1 : 
License 2: 

09/06/1975 
BIRMINGHAM, AL 

192 SILVERLEAF DR 
PELHAM, AL 35124 



STATE OF ALMAMA 
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD 1 

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION 
Confirmation Number: 2019081 5091 820102 

If applicant is leasing the property, is a copy of the lease agreement attached? YES 
Name ofproperty ownerflessor and phone number: ENGLISH VILLAGE LLC 205-624-541 1 
What is lessors primary business? REAL ESTATE 
Is lessor involved in any way with the alcoholic beverage business? NO 
Is there any further interest, or connection with, the licensee's business by the lessor? NO 

Does the premise have a fully equipped kitchen? YES 
Is the business used to habitually and principally provide food to the public? YES 
Does the establishment have restroom facilities? YES 
Is the premise equipped with services and facilities for on premises consumption of alcoholic beverages? YES 

Will the business be operated primarily as a package store? NO 
Building Dimensions Square Footage: 2533 Display Square Footage: 
Building seating capacity: 60 Does Licensed premises include a patio area? YES 
License Structure: ONE STORY License covers: OTHER 
Location is within: ClTY LIMITS Police protection: ClTY 

Has any person(s) with any interest, including manager, whether as sole applicant, officer, member, or 
partner been charged (whether convicted or not) of any law violation(s)? 
Name: Violation &Date: Arresting Agency: Disposition: 
ROBERT CARL ROBBERY 1ST BIRMINGHAM PD SENTENCED TO 15 
MCLEMORE Ill DEGREE YRS. SENTENCED 

VIOLATION STATE 
FIREARMS ACT 

REDUCED TO 9 
MONTHS. 



STATE OF ALABAMA 
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD /lil 

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLlCATlON 
Confirmation Number: 201 9081 5091 820102 

Private Clubs I Special Retail I or Special Events licenses ONLY 

Private Club 
Does the club charge and collect dues fiom elected members? 
Number of paid up members: 
Are meetings regularly held? 
How often? 
Is business conducted through officers regularly elected? 
Are members admitted by written application, investigation, and ballot? 
Has Agent verified membership applications for each member listed? 
Has at least 10% of members listed been conlimed and highlighted? Agent's Initials: 
For what purpose is the club organized? 
Does the property used, as well as the advantages, belong to all the members? 
Do the operations of the club benefit any individual member(s), officer(s), directods), agent(s), or 
employee(s) of the club rather than to benefit of the entire membership? 

Special Retail 
Is it for 30 days or less? 
More than 30 days? 

Franchisee or Concessionaire of above? 
Other valid responsible organization: 
Explanation: 

Special Events I Special Retail (7 days or less) 
Starting Date: Ending Date: 
Special terms and conditions for special eventlspecial retail: 

Other Explanations 
License Covers: SUITE A 



STATE OF ALABAMA 
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD 1 

ALOOHM- LICENSE APPLICATION 
Confirmation Number: 201 9081 5091 8201 02 

Initial each Signature page 
In reference to lawvlolatlons. I attest to fhe truthfulness of the responses glven wilhln lhe application. 

In reference to the Leaselproperlyownershlp. I anest to the lrulhfulness of the responses glven within 
V 

In reference to ACT No. 80-529.1 understand that if my application is denied or discontinued. I will not be m" appllcatiOn' 
refunded the filing fee required by lhis application. 
In reference to Special Retail or Specfa1 Events retail llcense, I agree to comply with ail applicable laws and 

regulations concerning this class of license, and to observe the special terms and conditions as Indicated , , within lhe applicatlon. 

In reference to lhe Club Application Information, I attest to (he lrulhfulness of lhe responses given , , within lhe application. 

In reference to the transfer of licensenocation. I attest to the truthfulness of the information lisfed on the 
attached iransfer agreement. 

-1 In accordance with Alabama Rules 8 Regulations 20-XS.01(4), any social security number disclosed 

under this regulation shall be used for lhe purpose of investigation or verhlcation by fhe ABC Board 

'=P 
and shall not be a matter of public record. 

The undersigned agree, if a llcense is issued as herein applled for, to comply at all times with and to fully 
observe all lhe provisions of the Alabama Alcoholic Beverage Conlml Act, as appears in Code of Alabama, 
T i  28, and all laws of the State of Alabama relative to the handling of alcohollc beverages. 
The undersigned, if issued a llcense as herein requested, furlher agrees to obey all mles and regulations 
promulgated by me board relative to all alcoholic beverages received In Ulls State. The undersigned. 
if issued a llcense as hereln requested, also agrees to allow and hereby invites duly authorized agents of 
lk Alabama Alcoholic Beverage Contml Board and any duly commissioned law enforcement ofiicer of 
the State, County or Municipality in which the llcense premises are located to enter and search without 
a warrant the licensed premises or any building owned or occupied by him or her in connedion wah 
said licensed premises. The undersigned hereby understands that he or she violate any provisions of the 
aforementioned laws his or her license shall be subjed to revocation and no llcense can be again issued 
to said lieensee for a period of one year. The undersigned further understands and agrees that no charges 
In lhe manner of operation and no deletion or discontinuance of any senricer. or facilities as described in this 
application hill be allowed without W e n  approval of the proper governing body and the Alabama 
Alcoholic Beverage Conlml Board. 

I hereby swear and affirm that I have read the application and all statements lhereln and fads set forth are true 
and correct, and that lhe applicant is the only person interested in fhe buslness for which the license 
is required. 

Applicant Name (print): &&kie h e  

Signature of Applicant: 

Notary Signature. Commission 

Application Taken: Forwarded to District Office: 
Submitted to Local Government: Received from Local Government: 
Received In District Office: Reviewed by Supervisor: Forwarded to Central Office: 



RESOLUTION NO. 2019-114 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE SALE OR DISPOSAL 
OF CERTAIN SURPLUS PROPERTY 

WHEREAS, the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, has certain items of personal property which 
are no longer needed for public or municipal purposes; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1 1-43-56 of the Alabama Code of 1975 authorizes the municipal governing 
body to dispose of unneeded personal property. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, 
as follows: 

Section 1. It is hereby established and declared that the following property owned by the City of 
Mountain Brook, Alabama is not needed for public or municipal purposes and is hereby declared surplus 
property: 

Description 
Public Works 
2006 Ford F-150 XLT VIN#lFTPXl4V46NB26864, Asset No. 13343 
2006 Ford F-150 Lariat VIN# lFTPX14VOGNB 18258, Asset No. 13344 
2005 Ford Crown Victoria VIN#2FAFP74W 15X 13 895 1, Asset No. 13 166 
2003 Chevrolet S-10 VM#lGCCS 19x33 188760, Asset No. 1 197 
2008 Dodge Dakota VIN# lD7HW48N58S638744, Asset No. 13632 
2004 Case 95xt Skid Steer VIN#IC86284-JAF386284, Asset No. 13028 
2007 Polaris Ranger VIN#4XARF68A07D045083, Asset No. 13487 
2006 Ford F-550 VIN#lFADAW56P57EB21619, Asset No. 13481 
Police Department 
2009 Smart Car VIN#WMEEJ3 lX79K296220, Asset No. 13 85 1 
20 16 Chevrolet Tahoe VIN# 1 GNLCDEC6GR33 8 160, Asset No. 14704 
20 14 Chevrolet Tahoe VIN# 1 GNLC2E04ER2 10636, Asset No. 144 10 
20 14 Chevrolet Tahoe VIN#l GNLC2E08ER.2 12339, Asset No. 14408 
2006 Dodge Durango VIN#lD8HB38N16F145862, Asset No. 1333 1 
2006 Honda Civic VIN#2HGFG126 16H560872, Asset No. 14824 
20 14 Chevrolet Tahoe VIN# 1 GNLC2E0 1 ER2 13574, Asset No. 14409 

Section 2. That the City Manager, or his designated representative, is hereby authorized and 
directed to sell said property by way of public Internet auction. 

ADOPTED: This 26th day of August, 20 19. 

Council President 

APPROVED: This 26th day of August, 2019. 

Mayor 

Surplus Property 



RESOLUTION NO. 2019-115 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, that the bid 
for the purchase and installation of a Conex storage building for the Police Department target range (B- 
20 1907 19-534) submitted by Falcon Structures is hereby accepted having been determined to meet 
specifications and to represent the best and lowest bid. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, 
that the Mayor or City Manager of the City is hereby authorized and directed to issue a purchase order 
and to execute such other documents that may be determined necessary with respect to said purchase. 

ADOPTED: This 26th day of August, 20 19. 

Council President 

APPROVED: This 26th day of August, 20 19. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby certify 
the above to be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Mountain Brook at its meeting held on August 26,20 19, as same appears in the minutes of record of said 
meeting. 

City Clerk 

Conex Storage Building Bid Award 



BID TABULATION AND RECOMMENDATION 

BID NUMBER B-20190719-534 

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK 

CONEX STORAGE BUILDING 

Four bids were received on August 15,2019 by 10:OO am a t  Mountain Brook City 

Hall. 

Falcon Structures $15,455.00 

Decatur Container Sales and Rental $18,230.00 
Mobile Mini $16,602.00 

Mobile Mini Alternate Bid $16,832.00 

It is my recommendation to award the bid to Falcon Structures. 

Lt. Jason Carmack 

Patrol Division Commander 

Mountain Brook Police Dept. 



RESOLUTION NO. 2019-1 16 

WHEREAS the City Council previously authorized the expenditure of $20,000 in conjunction 
with certain public improvements to be installed along Poe Drive in Mountain Brook, Alabama by a 
private developer (Resolution No. 20 19-089, dated June 24,20 19); now, therefore, 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, that the Mayor 
or City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to execute, for and on behalf of the City Council, a 
Development Contract for Improvements Along Poe Drive, in the form as attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

ADOPTED: This 26th day of August, 20 19. 

Council President 

APPROVED: This 26th day of August, 201 9. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby certify 
the above to be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City of Mountain 
Brook at its meeting held on August 26,2019, as same appears in the minutes of record of said meeting. 

City Clerk 

Public Improvements Along Poe Drive 



DEVELOPMENT CONTRACT FOR IMPROVEMENTS ALONG POE DRIVE 

This Development Contract For Improvements Along Poe Drive (the "Contract") is 
entered into by and between the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, a municipal corporation 
(hereinafter referred to as "City1'), and Kadco, LLC, an Alabama limited liability company, with 
its principal address 3505 Bent River Road, Birmingham, Alabama 352 16 (hereinafter referred to 
as "Developer"). This Contract will be effective on the last date that is executed below by a 
party (the "Effective Date"). 

WHEREAS, Poe Drive is a public street in Jefferson County, Alabama, that lies and runs 
between Overton Road in the City and the Cahaba Heights area in the City of Vestavia Hills, 
Alabama ('Vestavia Hills"): 

WHEREAS, the Developer is constructing improvements on private properties that lie 
along Poe Drive (the "Project"); 

WHEREAS, as part of the Project, Developer desires to construct a sidewalk on public 
rights of way along Poe Drive in both the City and in Vestavia Hills (the "Sidewalk"), and, per 
the Plans (as defined below), obtain and install in the City a new light pole that is similar in 
design and functionality to those poles being placed in Vestavia Hills in connection with the 
Project (collectively, the "Other Improvement"); 

WHEREAS, the Sidewalk to be constructed in the City lies on the west side of Poe Drive 
and will extend approximately 120 linear feet (the "City Section of Sidewalk"); 

WHEREAS, at or near the municipal boundary of the City and Vestavia Hills along Poe 
Drive, the City Section of Sidewalk will connect to another section of sidewalk that, pursuant to 
a Contract that the Developer previously has entered or will enter with Vestavia Hills, it will 
construct and which will extend approximately 850 linear feet in Vestavia Hills (the "Vestavia 
Hills Section of Sidewalk"); 

WHEREAS, the construction of the City Section of Sidewalk and Other Improvement 
lying in the City collectively may be referenced herein as the "Work"; 

WHEREAS, Developer has requested that, on successful completion of the Work lying 
in the City, the City pay it an amount not to exceed Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000.00) to 
partially defer the Developer's expense for that Work (the "City Contribution"); 

WHEREAS, the City is authorized by Title 11-48-4, Code of Alabama, 1975, to make 
the City Contribution and pay other public funds for the construction, repair, maintenance and 
improvements of public streets and sidewalks; and 



WHEREAS, the City and Developer agree to enter this Contract for it to perform the 
Work and the City pay the City Contribution pursuant to the terms, provisions, conditions and 
requirements set forth below. 

WITNESSETH 

In consideration of the mutual covenants, pron~ises and premises contained herein and 
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency is whereof is hereby 
acknowledged by each of the parties hereto, the City and the Developer agree as follows: 

RECITALS 

The recitals set forth above arc incorporated into this Contract by reference as though set 
out fully herein. 

11. THEWORK 

Developer shall cause and arrange for the Work in the City to be completed in the City 
pursuant to the following terms, provisions, conditions and requirements: 

A. Developer, at its sole expense, will arrange for the preparation by a professional 
engineer (or other design professional) of the design, drawings, plans, and specifications for the 
Work (the "Plans"). The parties anticipate a common set of Plans will address both the Work in 
the City and the component of the Project to be constructed in Vestavia Hills. 

B. The Plans, which have been prepared by the professional engineering firm of Hager 
Co., LLC, and include specifications for the City Section of Sidewalk and Other Improvement, 
and must be submitted to the City for its approval of the Work. 

C. The location of the City Section of Sidewalk is depicted on the map attached hereto as 
Exhibit 1, which map is incorporated herein by reference as though set out fully herein. 

D. The City Section of Sidewalk will be constructed on existing City right of way along 
Poe Drive. The City grants Developer and its General Contractor a license for purposes and 
uses contemplated in this Contract to enter and make improvements on the affected sections of 
City right of way along Poe Drive. 

E. Developer agrees that the City Section of Sidewalk and Other Improvements will be 
constructed only on City right of way. Developer will procure a survey from a professional 
engineer to confirm the limits of that right of way and assist it restrict the constructions of those 
improvements to that area. The City has no obligation to purchase additional right of way or 
obtain construction easements that may be required for the Work. The Developer exclusively 
will be responsible to secure from third parties who may own properties near Work area any 
additional right of way or construction easements required for the Work. Developer also agrees 
to restore any private property damaged or affected by Work operations. 

F. The Work shall be constructed all in accordance with the Plans. 



111. LICENSED GENERAL CONTRACTOR 

The parties anticipate that the Developer will enter a construction contract(s) (the 
"Construction Contract") with a licensed general contractor as defined by Title 34-8-1, Code of 
Alabama, 1975 (the "General Contractor") to perform both the Work lying in the City and 
construct the Vestavia Hills Section of Sidewalk. 

IV. DEVELOPER'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR COST/ESTIMATED COSTfPAYMENT 
OF CITY CONTIUBUTION. 

A. Cost. Developer is hlly responsible to arrange for and bear the expense of all labor, 
materials and services incurred, related or required for the Work and completing that part of the 
Project lying in the City, including, without limitation, the following; compensating the General 
Contractor for their operations, compensating any consultant, surveyor, engineer, architect or 
other design professional or entity or third person for their services; permitting: preparation of 
the Plans; surveying expense; construction; supervision of the Work; landscaping; locating 
utilities; traffic control; compliance with insurance or other requirements in this Contract; 
furnishing all needed equipment and associated power; and providing any other incidentals 
related to the Work 

B. Estimated Cost. The estimated cost of constructing the Work lying in the City is 
approximately Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50.000.00) (the "Estimated Cost"), but the final cost of 
it may exceed that amount. .Notwithstanding whether the actual costs of the Work exceeds the 
Estimated Cost, the Developer exclusively is responsible to pay all expense of the Work. 

C. City Contribution. Within fifteen (15) days following receipt of Developer's 
invoice indicating completion of the Work, the City will pay it the City Contribution (i.e., 
$20,000.00). This payment is conditioned on occurrence of all of the following 

(i) completion of the Work by the General Contractor in compliance with the 
Plans approved by the City; and 

(ii) compliance by the Developer with the terms, provisions, conditions and 
requirements herein; 

(iii) final inspection, written approval and acceptance by the City of the Work 
performed by the General Contractor; and 

(iv) substantial completion by the Developer of the Vestavia Hills Section of 
Sidewalk. 

V. TERM OF CONTRACTISCHEDULE FOR WORK 

This Contract will commence on the Effective Date and thereafter continue for a period 
of twelve (1 2) months (the "Term"). 



Time is of the essence in performing the Work. Developer will arrange for the General 
Contractor to substantially complete the Work within approximately ninety (90) after issuance of 
a written Notice to Proceed by the City. The City will not issue a notice to Proceed until after it 

A. approves the final Plans in writing; and 

B. receives from Developer the Certificate(s) of Insurance required herein. 

VI. EARLY TERMINATION 

Effective thirty (30) days after giving written notice to Developer, the City may terminate 
this Contract before the expiration of its Term for any of the following reasons: 

A. Substantial evidence indicates that the Work will not be completed within the 
specified time, and the Developer fails to cure that deficiency within thirty 
(30) days after the date of that notice. 

B. The Developer breaches any material obligation owed the City or 
responsibility hereunder, and fails to cure that breach within 30 days after the 
date of that notice. 

The City's exercise of the right to terminate provided in this provision does not preclude it from 
utilizing other remedies available at law or in equity. 

VII. CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

The following understandings apply concerning the contemplated Construction 
Contract(s) that the Developer will enter for the Work: 

A. The City must approve any Construction Contract. 

B. Among other customary provisions for a project of the nature of the Work, 
any Construction Contract between the Developer and the General Contractor 
shall include provisions addressing the following matters and substantially 
stating as follows: 

(i) Quality of Work. All labor, materials and supplies appliedlinstalled for 
the Work shall be executed in a professional, proficient and 
workmanlike manner; Further, General Contractor warrants the Work 
will be free from defects in material or workmanship for a period of 
twelve (12) months from the date of final acceptance of it. 

(ii) Insurance Requirements of General Contractor. The General 
Contractor shall carry the following types of insurance throughout the 
term of the Development Contract and performance of the Work: 

4 



(1) General Comprehensive Liability and Public Liability Insurance 
with limits of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00), per person, 
and Two Million Dollars ($2,000.000.00), per occurrence, to 
cover and protect the City, and its officials, employees or 
representatives, against claims or injury to or death of any person 
because of accidents which may occur or result fiom operations 
under the contract; such insurance shall cover the use of any and 
all equipment, including but not limited to machinery, tractors, 
rollers, mixers, motor vehicles and other related equipment 
necessary to perform the Work. 

(2) Property damage insurance in the amount of not less than Five 
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00) to protect the 
Developer, the Licensed General Contractor and its subcontractors 
fiom claims for property damage which might arise fiom the 
Work performed. 

(3) Worker's Compensation Insurance in accordance with the State of 
Alabama Worker's Compensation Law. This coverage shall 
provide protection fiom any and all claims for bodily injury or 
death which may arise from the performance of any servant, 
agent, employee or other representative of the General Contractor 
and its subcontractors under the Construction Contract. 

Before commencing the Work, the General Contractor shall submit 
evidence of the coverages required above to the City for review and 
approval. The policies must be on an "occurrence" basis. The 
evidence of coverages may be in the form of Certificate(s) of Insurance. 
A Notice to Proceed for the commencement of the Work shall not be 
issued by the City unless and until the City has provided 

Such insurance shall be carried with financially responsible insurance 
companies who are licensed in the state and approved by the City and 
shall be kept in fill force and effect until the Work is accepted by the 
City. Contracts of insurance (covering all operations under this 
contract) which expire before the Developer's work is accepted by the 
City shall be renewed and evidence of such renewal shall be submitted 
to the City for its approval. 

Except for the Worker's Compensation policy, the required insurance 
coverages shall name the City and its employees, officials and 
representatives as additional insureds for claims cause in whole or in 
part by the General Contractor's negligent acts or omissions during its 
operations. The insurance policy coverages shall state that these 
coverages shall be primary insurance for the additional insureds. 



(iii) Indemnification. The General Contractor shall indemnify and save 
harmless the City, and its employees, officials and representatives (the 
"City Representatives" from any and all claims, demands, 
controversies, actions, causes of action, liabilities of action, lawsuits, 
liabilities, damages and losses and expenses (including but not limited 
to attorney fees) (collectively, "Claims") arising out of or resulting 
from property damage, personal injury and/or death suffered or alleged 
to have been suffered by any person as a result of the negligent or 
willful acts of the General Contractor, a subcontractor and anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by them in performing the Work. This 
indemnification shall extend to all claims, damages, losses and 
expenses for injury or damage to adjacent or neighboring property, or 
persons injured thereon, that arise out of, relate to or result from the 
Work. Further, the scope of this indemnification obligation includes 
Claims against the City or any City Representative in which their 
negligence causes or is alleged in part to have caused the alleged 
damage, expense or loss, but does not extend to Claims caused or 
allegedly caused by the sole negligence or conduct of the City or the 
City Representatives. 

(iv) Other Provisions to be Included in Construction Contract. 

(1) Compliance with Applicable Laws. The General Contractor shall 
comply with the provisions of any and all federal, state and local 
laws, statutes, codes, rules, regulations, ordinances and resolutions 
that are applicable to the performance of the Work or this 
Contract, including, without limitation those related to protection 
of workers or environmental laws intended to protect the water, 
air, health or safety of the public. 

(2) Existing Underaound Utilities. Before any Work is done in the 
vicinity of an existing underground utility line, the General 
Contractor or Developer shall check with the owner of the utility 
lines to determine and verify its exact location. The Developer 
shall be held liable for any damage to utilities in the execution of 
this Contract. 

(3) Safety/Accident Prevention. In performing the Work the General 
Contractor is exclusively responsible for the safety of its workers 
and third persons. It shall exercise proper precaution at all times 
to protect persons and property, either on or off the site, for 
damage or loss that may occur as a result of its prosecution of the 
Work. The City makes no representations that the Work site is 
safe, free of any defect (latent or patent), or otherwise fit and 
appropriate for performance of the Work. 



(4) Removal of Debris & Cleaning. During the progress of the Work, 
the General Contractor shall remove and legally dispose of all 
surplus excavated material and debris, and keep the Project site 
and public rights of way reasonably clear. Upon completion of 
the Work, it shall remove all temporary construction facilities, 
debris and unused materials, and put the whole site and public 
rights of way in a neat and clean condition. Trash burning on the 
site will be subject to the approval of the City and existing state 
and local regulations. 

(5) Immigration Law Compliance. General Contractor represents and 
warrants to the that: (i) it does not knowingly employ, hire for 
employment, or continue to employ, in Alabama, an 
"unauthorized alien," as defined by the Beason-Hammon 
Alabama Taxpayer and Citizen Protection Act, $3 1-13-1, et seq., 
Code of Alabama 1975, as amended (the "Act"); (ii) it will enroll 
in the E-Verify program prior to performing any Services in 
Alabama and shall provide documentation establishing that it is 
enrolled in the E-Verify program. During the performance of this 
Agreement, the General Contractor shall participate in the 
E-Verify program as required under the terms of the Act and shall 
verify every employee in Alabama that is required to be verified 
according to the applicable federal rules and regulations; (iii) it 
will comply with all applicable provisions of the Act with respect 
to subcontractors, if any, that it engages for the Work by entering 
into an agreement with or by obtaining an affidavit from such 
subcontractors providing work on the in Alabama that such 
subcontractors are in compliance with the Act with respect to their 
participation in the E-verify program. General Contractor fbrther 
represents and warrants that it shall not hire, retain or contract 
with any subcontractor to perform the Work in Alabama which it 
knows is not in compliance with the Act; and (iv) by signing this 
Agreement, it affirms, for the duration of the Agreement, that it 
will not violate federal immigration law or knowingly employ, 
hire for employment, or continue to employ an unauthorized alien 
within the State of Alabama. If the General Contractor is found to 
be in violation of this provision, it shall be deemed in breach of 
the Agreement and shall be responsible for all damages resulting 
therefiom. 

(6) Com~liance with Boycott Limitations. Act 201 6-3 12 of the 
Alabama Legislature (which is codified at Ala. Code $ 41-16-5 
(1975) prohibits a governmental entity from entering into certain 
public contracts with a business entity unless the contract includes 



a representation that the business is not currently engaged in, and 
an agreement that the business will not engage in, the boycott of a 
person or an entity based upon the person or business doing 
business with a jurisdiction with which the state can enjoy open 
trade. The General Contractor represents and warrants that it is 
not currently engaged in, and will not engage in, the boycott of a 
person or an entity based in or doing business with a jurisdiction 
with which this state can enjoy open trade." 

C. Right of Inspection. During the construction of the Work, the City has the 
right, but not the obligation, to inspect, examine and test the materials and 
workmanship to be furnished by the General Contractor to determine 
compliance with applicable Plans and specifications. The City also shall have 
the right to reject defective materials and non-compliant work andor require 
its correction. Unacceptable workmanship shall be satisfactorily corrected by 
the Developer or General Contractor at no expense to the City. Rejected 
material shall be promptly segregated and removed from the project area and 
be replaced with material of specified quality without charge therefore. If the 
General Contractor fails to proceed at once with the correction of rejected 
workmanship or defective material, the City may contract for or otherwise 
have the defects remedied or rejected materials removed from the project area 
and charge the cost of the same against any monies which may be due the 
Developer under this Contract without prejudice to any other rights or 
remedies of the City to cure those deficiencies. 

VIII. DEVELOPER GUARANTEE AND INDEMNIFICATION BY DEVELOPER 

Developer unconditionally guarantees to the City that the General Contractor (i) will 
successfblly construct that part of the Work lying in the City and the Vestavia Hills Section of 
Sidewalk pursuant to the Plans and specifications, and (ii) faithfully perform all of its obligations 
in the contemplated Construction Contract (the "Developer Guarantee"). If the part of the 
Project lying in the City is not so constructed pursuant to Plans or the General Contractor 
breaches its obligations under the Construction Contract, Developer, at its expense, agrees to 
take whatever necessary action is required to so complete the Work (including, without 
limitation, hiring another construction contractor or making other arrangements to finish any 
incomplete operations or cure any defects in material or workmanship) or otherwise remedy any 
dispute, claim, circumstance, condition, matter or issue arising from the General Contractor's 
failure to perform its obligations in the Construction Contract. 

Further, Developer agrees to indemnify and save harmless the City, and its employees, 
officials and representatives (collectively, the "City Representatives"), from any and all claims, 
demands, controversies, actions, causes of action, liabilities, lawsuits, liabilities, damages and 
losses and expenses (including but not limited to attorney fees) (collectively, "Claims") asserted 
against them by any third person, entity or governmental agency arising out of, related to or 



resulting from (i) any acts, operations, conduct or omissions of either the General Contractor or 
the Developer in performing or failing to perform the Work, or (ii) the General Contractor's 
failure to perform its obligations under the Construction Contract. The scope of this 
indemnification obligation includes Claims made against the City or any City Representative in 
which their negligence causes or is alleged in part to have caused the alleged damage, expense or 
loss, but does not extend to Claims caused or allegedly caused by the sole negligence or conduct 
of the City or the City Representatives. 

IX. MISCELLANEOUS CONTRACT PROVISIONS. 

A. Independent Contractor. The Developer is an independent contractor of the City. 
Nothing herein creates, or should be construed to create, a principal-agent or employer/employee 
relationship between the City and Developer. 

B. No Assignment by Developer. Developer may not assign this Contract or any of its 
responsibilities, benefits or rights hereunder to any third person or party in any respect without 
having first obtained the written consent of the City. 

C. Non Waiver. The failure of the City to insist, in any one or more instances, upon a strict 
performance of any of the covenants of this Contract, or to exercise any option herein contained, 
shall not be construed as a waiver, or a relinquishment for the fbture of such covenant or option, 
but the same shall continue and remain in fbll force and effect. 

D. Amendmenth4odification. This Contract may not be amended except by a subsequent 
written agreement of the parties. Any waiver, alteration or modification of any of the provisions 
of this Contract or cancellation or replacement of this agreement shall not be valid unless in 
writing and signed by the parties hereto. 

E. Contract Representatives. Each Party shall appoint a representative who shall coordinate 
with the other party on all matters related to the performance of the Work and the administration 
of this Contract (the "Contract Representative"). 

F. Notices. Any notice required or contemplated hereunder shall be sufficiently given 
when sent to the appropriate Contract Representative via United States certified mail, return 
receipt requested, or via overnight courier with receipt verification to the address set forth herein, 
or by personally delivering such notice to the party intended to be in receipt thereof. 

G. Governing Law. This agreement shall be interpreted, construed and governed to the laws 
of the State of Alabama. 

H. Headings. The article and section headings and captions contained herein are included for 
convenience only, and shall not be considered a part hereof or affect in any manner the 
construction or interpretation hereof. 

I. Construction of Terms. If any ambiguity in the terms of this Contract is determined to 
exist, neither party shall be deemed its author, and no presumption shall be made that one party 



drafted this instrument. 
K. Execution in Countemarts. The Contract may be executed in several counterparts, each 

of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

H. Binding Effect. The Contract shall inure to the benefit of, and shall be binding upon City 
and Developer and any of their heirs, successors and permitted assigns. 

I. Severability. In the event any provision of this Contract shall be held invalid or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable any other provision hereof. 

J. Entire Agreement. This writing contains the entire agreement between the City and the 
Developer concerning the Work and Project. 

(Signature Page Follows) 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and Developer have hereunto caused this 
Development Contract to be executed by their respective undersigned duly authorized officers or 
representatives. 

CITY: 

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, 
ALABAMA 
A Municipal Corporation 

Its: 

Date: 

ATTESTED 

BY 2 

City Clerk, City of Mountain Brook, Alabama 

DEVELOPER: 

KADCO, LLC 
An Alabama limited liability company 

BY 

Its 

Date: 

ATTESTED 



STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that , whose name as Mayor of the City of Mountain 
Brook, Alabama, a municipal corporation, is signed to the foregoing Development Contract, and 
who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that, being informed of the contents of 
the instrument, he, as such officer and with 1 1 1  authority, executed the same voluntarily for and 
as the act of said City. 

Given under my hand and official seal, this the day of ,2019. 

Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 

SEAL 

STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that , whose name as of 
Kadco, LLC, an Alabama limited liability company, is signed to the foregoing Development 
Contract, and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that, being informed of 
the contents of the instrument, he, as such officer and with full authority, executed the same 
voluntarily for and as the act of said Kadco, LLC, an Alabama limited liability company. 

Given under my hand and official seal, this the day of ,2019. 

Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 

SEAL 



EXHIBIT 1 - MAP OF WORK AREA 

See attached. 





RESOLUTION NO. 2019-117 
 
BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, that the City 

Council hereby authorizes the placement by Leaf & Petal of 2817 Cahaba Road of a metal plant display in 
the right-of-way at the corner of Cahaba Road and Canterbury Road alley (as more fully described in 
Exhibit A attached hereto) subject to the conditions outlined in said Exhibit A. 

. 
ADOPTED: This 26th day of August, 2019. 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Council President  

 
APPROVED:  This 26th day of August, 2019. 
 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

 
 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby certify 
the above to be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City of Mountain 
Brook at its meeting held on August 26, 2019, as same appears in the minutes of record of said meeting. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Leaf & Petal Metal Plant Stand in ROW Approval                              2019-117 



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK 

Dana 0 .  Hazen, AlCP 
Director of Planning. Building & 
Sustainability 
56 Church Street 
Mountain Brook, Alabama 35213-0009 
Telephone: 205/802-3816 
Fax: 205.879.6913 
hazend@mtnbrook.org 
www.mtnbrook.org 

DATE: August 26,20 19 

TO: Mayor, City Council, and City Manager 

FROM: Dana Hazen, City Planner 

RE: 28 17 Cahaba Road 
Leaf & Petal Plant Stand - Right-of-way Peninsula 

Leaf and Petal proposes a metal plant stand in the right-of-way peninsula at the comer of Cahaba Road 
and the Canterbury alley (see attached zoning map). The Village Design Review committee reviewed 
the plant stand on August 21,2019, and recommended approval with the attached design changes (see 
attached VDR decision letter). 

Public Works has scheduled the planting of a new tree in this location, and has submitted design 
suggestions that will allow for future tree growth and peninsulaltree maintenance. Said design 
considerations have been incorporated into the VDR's recommendations. 

The Police Department has indicated that the height of the stand, taken together with any plants 
thereupon staged, should not exceed 42 inches in height above the grade, within the vehicular sight 
distance triangle at the intersection of Cahaba Road and Canterbury alley. Said design consideration 
has been incorporated into the VDR's recommendations. 



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK 

Department o f  Planning, Building & 
Sustainability 
56 Church Street 
Mountain Brook, Alabama 35213 
Telephone: 205.802.3810 
www.mtnbrook.org 

Case: 

Meeting Date: 

Location: 

Business name: 

Applicant: 

VILLAGE DESIGN REVIEW COMMITTEE 
CASE SUMMARY LETTER 

August 21,2019 

281 7 Cahaba Road 

Leaf & Petal 

Pam Clark 
pwatsonclark~email.com 

The Village Design Review Committee recommends approval of the plant stand for the 
right-of-way peninsula at Leaf & Petal. The following design components are 
recommended to the city council: 

1 .That there be a minimum 6-inch clearance from the outer edge of the plant stand to 

the back of the curb; That the interior tree "well" (or circular opening) be at least 18 

inches in diameter; 

2.That the stand be comprised of at least 2 pieces that could "break away" for tree and 

peninsula maintenance; 

3.That the lower tier be a minimum of 12 inches from the grade below; 

4.That the upper tier be allowed up to 24 inches above the surface of the lower tier (for 

a total height not to exceed of 36 inches from the grade below); 

5.That the upper tier be limited to locations at the sides and east of the tree trunk (away 

from Cahaba Road), for improved vehicular sight distance; 

6.That any plants, taken together with the plant stand, shall not exceed and overall 

height of 42 inches measured from the grade below the plant stand (in locations to the 

fronuwest of the tree trunk), for improved vehicular sight distance. 

Dana 0. Hazen, MPA, AICP 
Director of Planning, Building & Sustainability 



C
A

N
TE

R
B

U
R

Y
 ALLEY 

LEAF &
 PETAL 

M
O

U
N

T
A

IN
 B

R
O

O
K

 

LO
C

A
TIO

N
 











Leaf & Petal Plant Stand - Right-of-way Peninsula 

Street Views and Zoning Map 





RESOLUTION NO. 2019-118 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, that the City 
Council hereby authorizes establishment of an interest-bearing checking account for the recently enacted 
10 cent gasoline tax. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama 
hereby authorizes the execution of an Account Agreement and such documents determined necessary by 
the financial institution. 

ADOPTED: This 26th day of August, 20 19. 

Council President 

APPROVED: This 26th day of August, 201 9. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby certifL 
the above to be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City of Mountain 
Brook at its meeting held on August 26,20 19, as same appears in the minutes of record of said meeting. 

-- - - 

City Clerk 

10 Cent Gasoline Tax Bank Account Resolution 



ORDINANCE NO. 2052 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE LANE PARKE PUD 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, as follows: 

1. Development Standards. The Master Development Plan and the materials submitted by the applicant, as 
required by Section 129-265 of the Mountain Brook City Code, as approved upon the adoption of Ordinance 1 87 1 
dated May 2 1,20 12 are hereby amended to include the changes specified as attached hereto. 

2. Description of Affected Propem. The property that is the subject of the rezoning approved by this 
ordinance is described as follows: 

A parcel of land being situated in the Northeast quarter of the Northwest quarter and the 
Southeast quarter of the Northwest quarter of Section 8, Township 18 South, Range 2 West, more 
particularly described as follows: 

Begin at the Southwest Comer of the Northeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of Section 8, 
Township 18 South, Range 2 West; being the Point of Beginning; thence run Northerly along the 
West line of said Quarter - Quarter a distance of 665.12 feet; thence right 91'-08'-04" a distance 
of 1325.1 1 feet; thence right 88'-58'-55" a distance of 74.22 feet; thence right 37°-49'-05" a 
distance of 736.4 1 feet; thence right 52'-46'-30" a distance of 62.37 feet; thence right 00'- 14'-22" 
a distance of 179.92 feet; thence left 90'-58'-32" a distance of 355.39 feet; thence right 88'-43'- 
29" a distance of 24.53 feet; thence left 87'-29'-35" a distance of 139.13 feet; thence right 89'- 
27'-49" a distance of 14.61 feet; thence left 1 1 7'-30'-00" a distance of 175.92 feet; thence right 
84'-32'-17" a distance of 46.85 feet; thence tangent to a curve to the left having a radius of 
1243.26 feet and a central angle of 9'-20'-05" along the curve an arc distance of 202.55 feet; 
thence right 62'-49'-52" from the tangent of said curve a distance of 329.33 feet; thence tangent 
to a curve to the left having a central angle of 1 8'-00'-50" and a radius of 66.12 feet an arc 
distance of 20.79 feet; thence left 2'-03'-01" to the tangent of a curve to the left having a central 
angle of 34'-34'-36" and a radius of 60.77 feet, an arc distance of 36.67 feet; thence continue 
from the tangent of said curve a distance of 45.64 feet; thence right 90'-00'-00" a distance of 
1 19.49 feet; thence right 33'-25'-36" a distance of 245.1 1 feet; thence right 0'-00'-42" a distance 
of 377.82 feet to the Point of Beginning. 

Said Parcel contains 27.59 acres more or less. 

3. Repealer. All ordinances or parts of ordinances heretofore adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Mountain Brook, Alabama that are inconsistent with the provisions of this ordinance are hereby expressly 
repealed. 

4. Severabilitv. If any part, section or subdivision of this ordinance shall be held unconstitutional or invalid 
for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to invalidate or impair the remainder of this ordinance, which 
shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

5. Effective Date. This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 
publication as provided by law. 

[Signature page follows] 



ORDINANCE NO. 2052 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE LANE PARKE PUD-CONTINUED 

ADOPTED: This 26th day of August, 201 9. 

Council President 

APPROVED: This 26th day of August, 2019. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook,, Alabama, hereby certify the 
above to be a true and correct copy of an ordinance adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Mountain Brook, Alabama at its meeting held on August 26,201 9, as same appears in the 
minutes of record of said meeting, and published by posting copies thereof on August 27,20 19, 
at the following public places, which copies remained posted for five (5) days as required by law. 

City Clerk 



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

PROPOSED ZONING NOTICE 

Notice is hereby given that at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook to be held on Monday, 
August 12, 2019, at 790  p.m., in the Council Chamber of the Mountain Brook City Hall located at 56 Church Street, 
Mountain Brook, Alabama 35213, the City Council will hold a public hearing to consider proposed amendments to the 
Lane Parke PUD, as approved upon the adoption of Ordinance 1 87 1 dated May 2 1,20 12. 

Proposed PUD changes (with respect to the number of drive-thrus and their locations) are available for review during 
regular business hours at City Hall or by going to: www.mtnbrook.org - Calendar - August 12, 2019 - City Cozrncil- 
Supporting Documents -Lane Parke PUD Amendment. 

ORDINANCE NO. 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE LANE PARKE PUD 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, as follows: 

1. Develoament Standards. The Master Development Plan and the materials submitted by the applicant, as 
required by Section 129-265 of the Mountain Brook City Code, as approved upon the adoption of Ordinance 1871 
dated May 21,2012 are hereby amended to include the changes specified as attached hereto. 

2. Descri~tion of Affected Proaerty. The property that is the subject of the rezoning approved by this ordinance is 
described as follows: 

A parcel of land being situated in the Northeast quarter of the Northwest quarter and the Southeast quarter 
of the Northwest quarter of Section 8, Township 18 South, Range 2 West, more particularly described as 
follows: 

Begin at the Southwest Comer of the Northeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of Section 8, Township 
18 South, Range 2 West; being the Point of Beginning; thence run Northerly along the West line of said 
Quarter - Quarter a distance of 665.12 feet; thence right 9 lo-08'-04" a distance of 1325.1 1 feet; thence 
right 88'-58'-55" a distance of 74.22 feet; thence right 37O49'-05" a distance of 736.4 1 feet; thence right 
52'46'-30" a distance of 62.37 feet; thence right 00"-14'-22" a distance of 179.92 feet; thence left 9O0-58'- 
32" a distance of 355.39 feet; thence right 88"-43'-29" a distance of 24.53 feet; thence leA 87"-29'35'' a 
distance of 139.13 feet; thence right 89"-27'-49" a distance of 14.6 1 feet; thence left 1 1 7°-30'-00'y a 
distance of 175.92 feet; thence right 84"-32'47" a distance of 46.85 feet; thence tangent to a curve to the 
left having a radius of 1243.26 feet and a central angle of 9"-20'-05" along the curve an arc distance of 
202.55 feet; thence right 62'49'-52" from the tangent of said curve a distance of 329.33 feet; thence 
tangent to a curve to the left having a central angle of 18°-00'-50" and a radius of 66.12 feet an arc 
distance of 20.79 feet; thence left 2"-03 '-0 1 " to the tangent of a curve to the left having a central angle of 
34"-34'-36" and a radius of 60.77 feet, an arc distance of 36.67 feet; thence continue from the tangent of 
said curve a distance of 45.64 feet; thence right 90'-00'-00" a distance of 119.49 feet; thence right 33O- 
25'-36" a distance of 245.1 1 feet; thence right 0"-00'42" a distance of 377.82 feet to the Point of 
Beginning. 

Said Parcel contains 27.59 acres more or less. 

3. Re~ealer. All ordinances or parts of ordinances heretofore adopted by the City Council of the City of Mountain 
Brook, Alabama that are inconsistent with the provisions of this ordinance are hereby expressly repealed. 



4. Severabilitv. If any part, section or subdivision of this ordinance shall be held unconstitutional or invalid for any 
reason, such holding shall not be construed to invalidate or impair the remainder of this ordinance, which shall 
continue in full force and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

5. Effective Date. This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon adoption and publication as provided 
by law. 

At the aforesaid time and place, all interested parties will be heard in relation to the changes proposed by said 
ordinance. 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Tarnmy Reid, Administrative Analyst for the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, do hereby certify that I have caused 
notice of the proposed amendment to the zoning ordinance and of public meeting thereupon set forth above to be 
published and provided in the manner specified by Article XXV of the Mountain Brook City Code. I further certify that I 
have posted said notice in four conspicuous places within the City of Mountain Brook, in the manner and within the time 
permitted by law, said places being: 

Mountain Brook City Hall, 56 Church Street 
Gilchrist Pharmacy, 2850 Cahaba Road 
Cahaba River Walk, 3503 Overton Road 
Overton Park, 3020 Overton Road 

Tainrny Reid, Administrative Analyst 



Planning Commission Application 
PART I 

Proiect Data 

Address of  Subject Property .Z@ S S LUh& Park a . 900 J ~ M  I % 
IDDO J e ~ i ~ a k  ~n 

Zoning Classification LAM P'  t)cC P U D 

Name o f  Property Owner@) W S D ~ ,  /l?ca N , &f 41 . 

Name o f  Representative Agent (if applicable) 

Phone Number Email 

Name of Engineer or Surveyor d efF S /&bfl , 6 D odwn, m e C W o u 4  ) ~ c  * 

Phone Number 20s- 1379- *& 2 Email \ S @ 4 ~ ~ h e f t c l 0 d ~ - ~  

[&) Property owner or representative agent must be present at hearing 

Plans 

[&) See applicable Section of the Zoning Ordinance for submittal requirements 

pertaining to your particular application. Applicable Code Section may be found 

in Part 11, list of application types. Contact City Planner with any specific 

questions as to required plans submittal. 



P-I 9-20 

LANE PARKE 
JMounfein Brook Vllkae 

PUD AMENDMENT APPLlCATtON 

The Project Owner previously submitted an application for the re-zoning of the 
Property from Local Business District and Residence D District to a Planned Unit 
Development District In aocotdance with Article XVI of the City Code, which application 
was, following public hearings, approved by the Chy Council upon the adoption of 
Ordinance 1871 dated May 21, 2012 {as amended from time to time, the 'Approved 
PUD"). All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings 
given to them in the Approved PUD. 

The current owners of the Pmperty subject to the Apprwed PUD are hereby 
submitling an application to the Planning Commission and the City Council (the 'PUD 
Amendment Application") for the approval of certain amendment8 to the Approved PUD, 
which will provide an alternate Dlhre Through and Access Plan for Parcel 5 in the 
Approved PUD. Specifically, the owners request that the Approved PUD be amended 
by replacing the Table of Contents end pages 16 and 97 and of the Approved PUD with 
the changed pages, and by adding a new Appendix G to the Approved PUD, each as 
set forth in Exhibit 'An attached hereto. The names and addrases of all property 
owners whose property lies within 500 feet of Parcel 5 of the Property, as certified by 
Stewart Title Guaranty Company. are listed on Exhibit 'B" attached hereto. 

Accordingly, the owners hereby submit the infomatian included herein to the City 
pursuant to the application requirements of Article XVI of the City Code in order to 
amend the Approved PUD. 



Petition Summary 
Request for approval of an amendment to the Planned Unit Development (PUD) for Lane 
Parke. 

Recent Background 
At its meeting of August 12,20 19, the city council held a public hearing on this case, 
announcing at the beginning of the meeting the no vote would be taken at that time, in the 
absence of two of its members. The applicant presented the case and public comment 
was taken. 

Analysis 
The proposed PUD amendment has 3 prongs: 

1. To amend the Traffic & Access Plan to add Block 8 to the list of blocks that may 
contain a drive-thru. 

2. To amend the Base Zoning Standards to allow 4 drive-thrus. 
3. To add language to require a stacking/queue analysis and city council approval for 

each and every proposed drive-thru in the project; every time a new tenant drive- 
thru is proposed. 

Planning Commission Recommendation 
At its meeting of July 1,20 19, the planning commission recommended approval of the 
proposed drive-thru amendment (P-19-20), with a condition that the language be 
tightened up with regard to specific proposed tenant types and specific locations within 
Lane Parke. Language has been added to require a stacking/queue analysis and city 
council approval for each and every proposed drive-thru in the project; every time a new 
tenant drive-thru is proposed. 

Traffic Study of Drive- Through Queue 

Proposed Coffee Shop (Block 10) 
The proposed drive-thru lane that is to access a coffee shop (Block 10) has the capacity to 
store nine vehicles. At the bottom of Page 5 (Skipper Queue Study), based on a Skipper 
study of a Starbucks in Trussville, it is anticipated that the queue for the proposed coffee 
shop would exceed the nine-queue storage available for 6 minutes per day, as follows: 

The queue will exceed storage by one vehicle for three (3) minutes 
The queue will exceed storage by two vehicles for one (1) minute 
The queue will exceed storage by three vehicles for one (1) minute 
The queue will exceed storage by four vehicles for one (1) minute 

If the queue exceeds the nine car available queue storage, vehicles will interfere with the 
flow of traffic on Jemison Lane. 



Proposed Fast Casual Restaurant (Block 8) 
The proposed drive-thru lane that is to access a fast-casual restaurant (Block 8) has the 
capacity to store two vehicles. Charts on Pages 5 and 6 of the Skipper Queue Study 
indicate fiequent excesses of the Zcar queue storage limit throughout the day (between 
4-6 cars in the queue). At the bottom of Page 6, the study indicates that no queue is 
expected to impede traffic on Culver Road. 

However, if the queue exceeds the two car available queue storage, vehicles will interfere 
with the use of on-site parking (behind the Ray & Poynor building) and it would seem 
that there is at least some unknown risk a queue could impede traffic flow on Culver 
Road. 

Landscape Plan for Phase 2 
The PUD contains a list of approved plant species, and indicates that street trees and 
other landscaping along street fiontages should resemble that of the traditional village 
and be compatible with it. The PUD also indicates that the landscape plan is subject to 
the Village Design Review process. This means that a proposed landscape plan should 
be presented to the VDR for review and approval prior to implementation. However, 
such an approved landscape plan does not, then, become part of the PUD; and as such, is 
not subject to city council review when changes are made to an approved landscape plan. 

Likewise, the city council, in its review of any proposed PUD amendment, is not bound 
by any landscape plan previously approved by the VDR. This does not preclude the 
council fiom taking into consideration an approved landscape plan, during the course of 
its review of all factors of a PUD amendment. 

Affected Regulation 
Article XVI, Planned Unit Development District; Section 129-266, Additional 
Requirements and Provisions 

Appends 
LOCATION: 2655 Lane Parke Road 

ZONING DISTRICT: Planned Unit Development 

OWNER: Evson, Inc. 





P v m  PUD 

M O L N T A I N  B R O O K .  A L A B A M A  

T A B L E  OF C O N T E S T S  

DefinrdTnmr & Sire Lcgcn 

Sravmenc of Dmlopmcnr 0 

M u m  DNclopmcnr Pla 

Permitted Land Uw Map 

knnirred land Urcr 

Bnsc Zoning Dirrricr Standards 

Dcaign Srandaidr & h r r c r u  B 

Lighrittgrmd Scmnieg Pint, 

Utilities and Storm D m h y  PI 

Ddopmenr Schedule andConrrrucrion l'hrsi 

P h  of Subdivision. Owmrship. Mainrewce and Rurdcritv Covenant 

Si, Addrar m d T u  P-I Idu~tihorio~b Numhrr 

Survey wirh Elwarions & Aerial Photograp1 

A. A w e d *  A: Parkisg Lud 

8. Appndh B:TmffiticSn,d 

D. Appendix D: M a r &  llln~srrarivc Mvrcr Plrz 

E. Append*E: Dimensioned IUurlnrlve Muter Plan 

G.  . I 



Kf.c!l IUCU I,clr \\'IDHI &\ lx l \ \ r .s \  1.cs1' OCPIII 
Lane k rke  will 1% divided into krcrl, rs idcrltificd on Page 

J of this PVD Applicxrtc~n. 7hr Dc+n Standard\ and 

Illusrrativc hla>tcr Plan cor~tcrnplrrc bt l i ld~np and \t~ncturrr 

Free-Standing 

Strr~t-l;rci~~r 

bring uricntrd cutwith mspcct tu such Parcel\, MI minimum lut 

width, and depth* are nor ncctwan: 

I 

Strwt-Front 

Retidentirl 

RF\idcntirl 

I~,\(.,\l)C l ' u ~ ~ l l : ~ ~ l ~ ~ x ~  
v c. a: - .  

1 B y  wir~dovt a l i a l c o ~ ~ i  I c ~ c ~ i d  I to 5 r i  I UJV \\ indorvs a d  I)rlconi~- rmry cxlcl~d trp to 3' over the 1x1 allow for ntorc varialiol~ on hilildings that present a 1tg111 

60' width 

25' rvitlth 

60' width: 100' dcplh 

Srrr-t u~r l l  to ctircr 9O-l00'%1 nf  J lor 

I'KI.~.\KY Ex-I  K:\s('I:s 

rree-~ranntng 
lthc facrdc. hirc rtlav not c-tend o\tr ftont huildinq liac. I front buildin,: linr. I rtrrrt cdec. 

I'.\KYI\c;. Vl~lll('1.l' h\l> PI:I)I~S'TK~.\X r\C:<:F.SS S'C~SD.%KI>S 

NIII Appl~alilc 

SIRXI wall 10 c ~ r c r  6 5 - I ~ r ~ t  IIF J lor 

Not appltcrl~lc tn drive riilcc and rccr.x\ p ~ t ~ t c  to any 

\trurti~rcd p.irktn< 

*Iir armrnmdatc the rcqui rn~me of Iargcr tcnrnts 111 the Lair 

Parkc Plan. 

Prin~ary 

Enrnncc, 

'Ib allow for cfficierrt rchratlrr rncel rlld co~i\c~i iet~t ICCCIS to 

parktng within the Lane Parkc Plan. 

NIII Appliuhlc 

Parking 

Q~lantity 

I'nrking 

Lh ign 

Vehicle Access 

I.im~tationr 

Facilities 

To aIlnrv for grr7tt-r spacing hetwccn hu~ldingc. and to pr~widc a 

cunrcr cournard for tlre addititin cif enxn \vice and amenities. 

One ( I  j pritriary cntrancc to he lorated cwry 50' of 
street fra1nt.1~~ on Prttt~rry I:rontrl:c\ 

SI:lrvlc~l: Y:\l<ns 

I~xcrptions permicsihlc wirh ay lu t  to tenants occupying 

in exax ttfr.mo quare cat spat llul nquirc linblc 

Rctril-5 pcr I .(HH); (r.rvicc-5 }XI I.(I(Hl: Oficc-4 I r r  

I O(Hk Rc\idcntiil-2 p r  dr\xIlin): clnit pin\ virircir \pact, 

Parking fcir all rc,idcnti~l uws \hall be I~~cr tcd in the 

rrrr ot'any trsidcrlttrI Irrrilding. and no parking >hall Iw 

~rrruirtcd in any Ihint yard or \ide yard; allt,rvancc Lil 

risittrr parking in fttint # i f  any building il'lt~catcd (111 - 
st r r~t  2nd avrilal)lc fnr pul~lic use 

\'chick rccc,r 10 ail lor> \hall 1w limited according 

to frttntrgc t y p  (111 thc rppl1c.111lc Btrilding JIII~ 

kvclt~pmcru Rugttlatiog I'lan 

D r i v c - t h r ~ ) ~ ~ ~ t ~  frcilitic< tnay he ~vlmirtcd nnlv w h r  

ingrc\r and cgrcbc i s  prnviticd fioln r Scc~)ndary ctr 

Access S~ILY'I as identiti4 i r ~  rhe hla\tcr IiIao 

Additional notes: 
I .  Utilities. 7hc Building Typology rcquircnicnrs do not apply wllcrc ~rtil~t). 

easements and drain;~ge/floodw;ly cisernenls prohibit the ability ro 
conform. 

Some o f  rhc buildiags in rhc I.anc k r k c  Plan do not harv r 

rear yard and will have strcrt, 1,r1 a11 sides. Acc~)rdingly. wrvia 

areas shall hc locnted in accordnnce with thc Parking. Accesr 

and Trafic Plan and xrcencd in accordrncctvith the &si):n 

Srrvice yards 

To brcak up the w l e  o f  this larger (up to 4-,tory) huilding 

tvpc. 
To yravidc~rca~cr varictvwithnnl co~nyrcrrtits~t~): the ~cschctic 

ol'h.lcirr~~t~ir~ Brook V~l la~c.  

Standards 

Btrildittg 

hlatcr~als 

2. Ray Baildir~g. To the extent the Ray Building docs not comply with rhe 
Village Overlay Standards, the Iacal Business District requiretnents or the 
Dcsign Standards in any respect. no altcc~tions to t l ~e  Ray Building shall 
be req~rirrd and the Ray B~~ilding nxay rr111air1 as ct~rrenrly consrr~rcred ;IS 

a legal non-conforming strucrure. An): future material cxrcrior alteratiorls 
or renovatiorls to the b y  Building sIia11 conforrn ro the appropriate 
Architecrilnl Sryle set forth in the Pattern Book. 

Irarking quantity and access will he irnplcmcntcd in 

acct~rdancc with the I'arkiag. Accc.u and'liaffic Plan 

iltcludcd in Section 13 of this I'UD appliatinn 

1)rlking dctign fcrr the Il-~idcotial Usc Arm will bc 

irnplc~ncntcd in acct~rdarlcc with thc Paking. Acceu 

and Traffic Plan included in Sction 13 uf  thi, PUD 

appliution. which duo not Cjrllid parking in  hrnr tir 

side y~rd, 

'Ihe limitrrint~ or1 vellicle Jccca to huilding, For both 

I'rinlary a11t1 Secondary Frolrtagc.i r11311 not apply to 

drive ar\lc.\ JII~ accew pnints to any rrructurcd parking. 

ar l:crrcrallv tkpictcd in the lilu\trativc hlatter I'lan 

n~ivr---th~nud~ hriliries shdl lr pcrtni\\ihlc in tiir~r 

( 4 )  rhnr< ib  locr~ioa, in rcco~d~ncc rvirh the Ilcsign 

Sta~~drrd\ 

This sidcrvalk will nnt rupprr mail  traffic and will scrve at r 

tnnlition to nsidentbl areas north o f  L n c  Rrkc. 
Sidewalk\ cin primary \trccr.rr ,hall be 8-1 2' wide 

3. Design Staridards. The Desigr~ Standards are hereby incorporated herein 
hy rcfcrcncc and any provisions thcrcof not cxprcssly idcntificd above that 
Revirtc tiom the Villap Overlay Standards, the Residence C Srand:arcis 
or rhc Local Business District regulations shall be perrxlissible. To the 
extent any provisions of the Design Standards are inconsistent with the 
yrovisiotls of the Village Overlay Standards, rhe Residence G Standards 
or the L o d  Busi~less District reg~lations. the Design Suadards shdl 
cant rol. 

Parking quantitic\ inct)qxtrarc .hared uw rcductiun\. a\ nlltiwwd 

by the Village Owrlay Standard,. 

'Ihb will allow for multiplc, p r  snlallcr and mnrc discrccr. 

parking ticlds and is necessary to provide a center cnurryard for 

t t~c additir~n t ~ f  rprw and amenities. 'Ihc locatic~n of the 

Ke~idmtial Buildings rr\-r). finm the cnrtltnercial core t l f  b t l c  

k r ke  and the Villrgc n~itigate\ the aectlwtic impact, ci iparki~~g 

areas within hnnr and side )~rds. 
I b  allow for cfficierlt vehicular trarcl and convenicnt access 

to parking within thc Plan. so xrvicc ams will Ix located it1 

acccirdance with thc krk i t~g,  Atceqs annd'Iiafic Plan it1 Scctitin 

13 o f t h i ~  I'VL) Applirrt~on. 
'Ihc Design Standards comply wirh lhe spiril o f  the Villap 

Overlay Standards hut spccific srrrvtr in the Lane Irarkc I'lan 

vary from rhc layout in the Villag hlastcr I'lalr. ' l l~c  drtvc 

IIII~IU~II Inc:itit~r~\ .ire ~u11~~1rrcd IIV tt.iffic stuclic*. 

Ilcsidcncc C; Stantirrdc ant1 Local Ullsi11cr.t I)istric.t 

Stalitlrrdr rrqutre rrvicc v~ rd r  In Ire lo~atctl at thc 

rcJr ol'tlrc 11lrildtng.i :rnd spcclty rlrc rod tttarcrirl 

All hl~ilding, 51311 have nne prinirry nntcrinl covcring r t  

lcabt 7 0 " ~  nf buildin): frc~dc\ 

Pri~ttary ~ ~ . I I ~ ~ I J ! S  and Sccc~~~d.~rv h1.1tcriaIs dn IIOI 

irtclt~dc tlrc n r  c~f'latn~cd Irrick 

The sidcwalk on the wction of Lane Parkc Road notth crf 

14rk Lane G ~ u n  Suutlr shall hc A' minimum 

4. Parking Design. 'Ihe req~rirernenrs related to I'arking Design shall nor 
apply, as parking and acws  will be implemented in accordance with 
the Parking, Access and T&c Plan included in Section 13 of this PUD 
Applicatioii. 

I>ncr nor require wrvicc y ~ r ~ i c  to bc at tllc r u r  rnd 

dicratcs thrr rcrvicc yard\ be sc~vncd from view (see 

Debicn Standards) 

The plitnrry m~tcr i r l  for Hcsidc~~tinl Buildings nl lv 

cooriat of Icr\ t11411 70% ~n\ctagc o f  thc bnildinl: facades 

Allorvs fnr the u r  o fp~intcd hrick 



D R I V E  1 - H R O U G H  F A C I 1 . I T I E S  wrirren request o f  ,he roning oficer. chc Iirojcn Owner shall prerenr rhe 
nrivr ,llm,,+ jaciliris may kc and conrrruc,cd rl,e,,i,ier Preliminacy Plrnr to the Design Co~rnrnitrn ar s rcg~nl~dy rdaedulcd nmring 

hrs, noor rcnil or con,,,,cmi;li space in follawillg locl,iol,l o f  the Design Comrnirrre m d  coopcnre wixh m y  rubrrqt~enr inqoiria o f  

nor is rhc rhe Dcrign Con>mirrcc. 7hc zoning oRiccr will notify the Pmjm Owner in 

rlfd (ii) wirl,in 1" (ii) 1111111 . . . . wtifingwirhin 30 dap ofthe larr lo  occur of rherabn,ircal afthe Pmliminrry 

d' " , 
.. . . Plans or the Project Owncri pmcnu!rion to rile D d g n  Commitcce i f  raid 

p,- Prelintinary Pianr do nor contl,$. with r l x  Design Smndrrds, which wrirrerl 

the iollowisg user (each heins ref- a a & D  I c t 
. . .  . . .  n,m,eh ,totice 51>811 ihclude .I der~rIl,tiot~ o f  why the Prcli~ni~vary Plaur am not in 

bananlulfimncial insrittaiolu, ilil phrrtmcirr (inchtding cumP1iance lhr Srandrrdr' 

phuntwcics incillnry co anorher primacy we). lji) dcy-clmnscn. &) co&c 

rhopr m d  !A rpccirlcy food related canccprr not iolclsdrd wicltin the &rr- 
food wtatmnr mrcgory such ac bakeries, delicarcusnn n t d  srorcs offering the 
rde ofice CR-an, yogurt mdlorrmoodtier. Far-food rcrtauranr iscr may nor 

utilire drive ~ l t rougl~ ficiliticr. 

711" s i x  m d  dcrign oFhuilding and rtnrcfmao nnry wry fio~n r l ~ c  ~ i z w  and 
designs shown i n  r h i  l i l~lrrnr ivc Maserr Plan and i n  the Parking, r\crcsr r ~ d  
Trdfi~ Plan ro accornmodarc rhc inclusion o f  or clwnger ro drivc-rhmugh 
facilitin ar. pcrn~ittcd hy chesc Design Scandad. 

D E S I G N  R E V I E W  
I n  conn~oion wirh the preparation o f  rclxe~~varic design docttn~cnts for any 
bdlding(r), the Pmjccr Owner shall rtibtnit to rite mning oficer (J, dcfincd 
in #he Cixy Code) rchcmric daigct drawings (rirc phn, floor plans and 
elcvacioor o f  rhc buildine therein) ("Preliminrry Plsns') for review and 
cntnmctzr relrrlvc ro rornplirnce with the Design Sra~drrdr. 7he zoning 
oficer sl~ali h;tve rhe rigltr ro conrdr wirh rhc Design Comtsitrrr ibr  guidance 
art wi%ecl~cr ~ h c  Prcli#niuary Plallr cotnply wit11 111r Uerigtl Sv~t~dardr. U1>on 

Prior lo conamcr~ci~tg ca~atruct io~~ on my blrilding witltitm Lane Pa&e, the 
Projm Owner sltal l  apply for r buiIJing pcrmic in accordaztce wirh the 
rrqr~iremmrr of Sccdon 109-40 through Section 109-46 o f  rhc Ciry Codc. 
Thcroni~~e,ofliccrrhrll have ihc r ig l~ t  to coluu i~ with rllc Deign Commiucc 
to Jcrrrminr if rhc find plan, br any bmilding rnnlply u i rh  rhc Ooign 
SasdanL. 

~lhcprovirionsofrhefuregoing two (2) p.rq,raphs shall he rcfored ro herein 
rr rhc "-). 

D E S I G N  R E V I E W  - S I G N A G E  A N D  
A W N I N G S  
The h o j ~ r  Owncr shall rublnir u fitvri rigwage plan (bared upon thc 
Sipagc Plan indedcd i l l  Sctrbm 12 n f t l ~ i s  PUU Application) to rhc Dcaign 
Cornmirree for review and approv.11 nr a Marrcr Sign Plan i n  accordance 
with rhc reqttiretnetltr oCScction 121. Diviriou 3, of rl>c City Code and 
cach bwinerr rvirlain h n r  Parkc. prior to crcclingarly rignr or awningq, shall 
babmir an application for a sign ptrnlit i n  accordance with rhc requirernme 
ofSmion 121, Division 2, of rhr Cit).Codr. 



P A R K I N G .  A C C E S S  A N D  T R A F F I C  P L A N  

TRAFFIC AND ACCESS 

The plan ofr r~f f ic  m d  rrras for Lane Rrkcshnll bc rr morcpareicukrly rct fonh 
hemin i n  rhir k t i o n  I 3  (rhc "Traffic), The rnlficand awns 
impravcrncnrr cnnrrn~~~cd in conoarinn wirh rhc lmnc Parkr Plrn shall hc in 

amordance wiuh thcTralfic and Ac- Plan- . ~ ~ . ,  

The Trallic and Accw Plrn has been prelrawd hl vcmrdx~tce wiril (lie 
mcommcndrrioxu o iaT~f f i c  ln!pacrSrudy pmpnred by Skippcr Gnrulthh& Inc. 

A lad ingqionr l  trrlficconrulrmr. acopyofwhich h a  lren submind wirh rhir 
PUD&yliatian ; r \ & d k B  (the--?. 

The Tmffic Itnyact Study w ~ ~ u w ~ t d r  al~rc ihe ibllowing i~~~pmvux~e~ar  k 
mnrrruaed co bcnrcr service ihc d c  d e ~ d  n=tllring tiom thr tur, a d  
hnpmvcmrnrr to bc inchded within Lnnr Parkc (mllmiwly, d,c " I d t i c  

1 ,  1-> 

Widen b n e  I'd Road ro r hrcr lane crarr scctios fmm rhc inrencnion 
ol'Wubr RordlCulver RosdN.S. Hwy. 280 rdmpr for rpymxinwtdy 440 
fm nunhwlrd (including rum bay storage, cum bry npr. and r-irion 
v.p.r). . W~dcningofCalwr~oad R o d  lo a r h m  lase r m  mrian. 
Rnttipi!tg Mo~ltevallo Knnd ro pmvide r Id n~nl lane inro rhr site a m .  
M a d i n g  the tnlfic r i d  ar rhc inrenmion al'Cnh;lba R o n d l h r  Park 
RoadICulver Road1U.S. 280 Ramps ro pmvidc a pmtected-prmisive lch 
nain arm," for rnlfic rurnitlg leh fmtn the U.S. 280 nmp sorrhbound orlro 

Clhabr Road 2nd b n e  hrk b a d .  

In  aunrdana with rhc mommcndarionr ofrllcTr.lfc Innpact hudy rhcTraffir 
lmpmvcmcnrr r lul l  bc constntcrrd andlor implentmnd. 

MINDFUL OF THE PAST LOOKING TOTHE FUTURE 9; 



Proposed Plan 

A P P E N D I X  G :  ALTERATE DRIVE THROUGH A N D  A C C E S S  P L A N  



nRIVF-THRnIlfZU n I I F I I F  T R A F F I C  C T I I n V  

Lane Parke PUD 
Mountain Brook, Alabama 

Prepared for: 

Evson, Inc. 
2621 Lane Park Road 

Mountain Brook, Alabama 35223 

Prepared by: 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. 
3644 Vann Road, Suite 100 

Birmingham, Alabama 35235 

June 10,2019 



Lane Parke PUD Drive-Through Analysis Mountain Brook, Alabama 

This report documents a traffic analysis to support a change in PUD use for the Lane Parke PUD in 
Mountain Brook, Alabama, in order to allow construction of two uses with drive-through windows. One 
shop is proposed to be a Coffee Shop, and the other is proposed to be a fast-casual restaurant (not fast 
food). The proposed shop locations within the PUD and orientation of the drive-through lane i s  shown in 
Figure 1. 

Drive-Through Storage 

The drive-through lane for the Coffee Shop has the capacity to store approximately nine (9) vehicles 
beginning at the window before the queue begins to block traffic flow on Jemsion Lane. The drive-through 
lane for the Fast-Casual Restaurant has the ability to store two (2) vehicles beginning at the window. 
Another five (5) vehicles can be stored in the parking area along the rear of shops Dl, D2, and D3 before 
the queue begins to block traffic flow on Culver Road. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 1 



Lane Parke PUD Drive-Through Analysis Mountain Brook, Alabama 

Existing studies for drive-through queues for Coffee Shops are limited to one report containing maximum 
queue lengths for six Coffee Shops located in Minnesota and Kansas. The data in the report is limited to 
reporting the maximum observed queue during a 24-hour period. A graphical depiction of the data is 
shown below. 

2 4 6 8 10 12 14 

Mnlmum Queue Length (Vehldcr) 
l6 1 

Flgure 3.3.2 - Driw-Through Coffee Shop Maximum Queue Frequency- MN + KS Data 

Source: Drive-Through Queue Generation, Mike Spack, P.E., et al 

The data collected in Minnesota and Kansas can be statistically analyzed to yield the following: 

Average Maximum Queue - 10.2 vehicles 
851h Percentile Queue - 13 vehicles 
Maximum Queue- 16 vehicle 

No existingstudiesfor drive-through queues for Fast-Casual Restaurants were located in literature search. 

New Queue Length Data Collection 

Existing queue length studies available were determined to be insufficient for the purposes of this report. 
In order t o  provide a complete picture of the queues, not only the length of the maximum queues must 
be determined, but also the duration (in minutes) of any queues which exceed the storage available needs 
to be known in order to make sound decisions regarding the proposal. Therefore, in order to provide a 
complete picture of queue lengths, Skipper Consulting, Inc. undertook new research to determine queue 
lengths for drive-throughs for Coffee Shops and Fast-Casual Restaurants. The sites selected for detailed 
data collection were: 

Coffeeshops 
o Starbucks on U.S. Highway 11 in Trussville 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 2 



Lane Parke PUD Drive-Through Analysis Mountain Brook, Alabama 

o Starbucks on Montclair Road in Birmingham 
Fast-Casual Restaurant 

o Panera Bread on U.S. Highway 11 in Trussville. 

Data collection was performed by observing the queues during the morning, midday, and afternoon peak 
periods, with the queue data collected minute-by-minute. The results of the queue length data collection 
are depicted in the following graphs. 

COFFEE SHOP QUEUES 

Coffee Shop (It8eue Analnir 
Gveekday 

695  am. io 8:dUa.m. 

Coffee YMP PueuebnalySs 
Weekday 

ll:35 a.m. to 1Z35 p.m. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc Page 3 



Lane Parke PUD Drive-Through Analysis 

Coffee Shop Queue Analysts 
Weekday 

4:25 p.m. to 5:30 p.m. 

Mountain Brook, Alabama 

FAST-CASUAL RESTAURANT QUEUES 

Fast-Casual Restaurant Queue Analysis 
Weekday 

6:45 a.m. to 8:05 a.m. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 4 



Lane Parke PUD Drive-Through Analysis Mountain Brook, Alabama 

Fast-Casual Restaurant Queue Analysis 
Weekday 

11:35 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. 

fast-Casual Restaurant Queue Analysis 
Weekday 

430 p.m. to 530 p.m. 

Analvsis of Queue LenHhs 

Coffee S ~ O D  

The longest queues (both in length and duration) for the Coffee Shop is during the morning peak period. 
Based on the data collected, it is estimated that the queue for the proposed Coffee Shop will exceed the 
available storage of nine (9) vehicles for six (6) minutes during the morning peak period. Morespecifically, 

The queue will exceed storage by one vehicle for three (3) minutes 
The queue will exceed storage by two vehicles for one (1) minute 
The queue will exceed storage by three vehicles for one (1) minute 
The queue will exceed storage by four vehicles for one (1) minute 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 5 



Lane Parke PUD Drive-Through Analysis Mountain Brook, Alabama 

During the midday peak period, it is projected that the queue will never exceed the storage. And during 
the afternoon peak period, it is projected that the queue will exceed the storage for three (3) minutes, 
with the storage exceeded by one (1) vehicle during those three (3) minutes. 

Or, in other words, there is would be projected to be minor disruption to traffic flow on Jemison Lane for 
six (6) minutes each weekday, with the possibility of both directions of traffic flow being disrupted for up 
to three (3) minutes each weekday. 

Fast-Casual Restaurant 

The queue length data collected for the Fast-Casual Restaurant shows that the primary storage of two (2) 
vehicles is projected to be frequently exceeded during the time periods analyzed. However, the projected 
queue lengths never exceed the available storage including the parking areas behind shops Dl, 02, and 
03. Or, in other words, it is projected that the drive-through for the Fast-Casual Restaurant would never 
impact traffic flow on Culver Road. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 6 


	2019-Aug-26 Agenda
	01 Minutes
	02 VDR appointment
	03 ABC license
	04 Surplus vehicles
	05 Bid award
	06 Poe Drive
	07 Leaf 'n Petal
	08 Gas tax checking account
	10 Lane Parke PUD amendment



